# Sharing the Canadian Experience with **Co-Management:**

Ideas, Examples and Lessons for Communities in Developing Areas

Tara C. Goetze International Development Research Centre

May 2004

WORKING

15 WORKIN PAPER



Rural Poverty and Environment Working Paper Series

#### **Working Paper Series**

IDRC's mandate is to initiate, encourage, support, and conduct research into the problems of the developing regions of the world and into the means for applying and adapting scientific, technical, and other knowledge to the economic and social advancement of those regions.

The publications in this series are designed to fill gaps in current research and explore new directions within a wide range of natural resource management topics. Some are narrowly focused, analytical and detailed empirical studies; others are wide-ranging and synthetic overviews of general issues.

Working papers are published by IDRC staff, hired consultants and interns, and are not part of Partner-funded research activities. Each paper is peer reviewed by IDRC staff. They are published and distributed primarily in electronic format via <u>www.idrc.ca</u>, though hardcopies are available upon request. Working papers may be copied freely for research purposes and cited with due acknowledgment.

Working Paper 15

# Sharing the Canadian Experience with Co-Management:

Ideas, Examples and Lessons for Communities in Developing Areas

Tara C. Goetze

International Development Research Centre PO Box 8500, Ottawa, ON, Canada K1G 3H9

#### Acknowledgements:

I am indebted to Dr. Harvey Feit for his insightful comments on this report, and for his unending support throughout my years of research with him. I also owe a great deal of gratitude to the many Nuu-chah-nulth, local community leaders and government representatives who contributed to my research in Clayoquot Sound. Daniel Buckles proved very kind and supportive during the time this report was being written, and IDRC staff members have together been very helpful and patient as the project was developed.

Goetze, T.C. 2004. Sharing the Canadian Experience with Co-Management: Ideas, Examples and Lessons for Communities in Developing Areas. Working Paper 15, Rural Poverty and the Environment Working Paper Series. Ottawa: International Development Research Centre.

Copyright © 2005 IDRC

This publication may be downloaded, saved, printed and reproduced for education and research purposes. When used we would request inclusion of a note recognizing the authorship and the International Development Research Centre.

Please send enquiries and comments to wmanchur@idrc.ca

Cover Image: Daniel Buckles, IDRC, 1999. Design & Layout: Richard Bruneau, IDRC, 2004.

### Abstract

The aim of this paper is to share Canadian experiences in local-state co-management with local stakeholder communities in developing areas. Examples of co-management in Canada are given and the theories and models that shape what is meant by the term 'co-management'. First, the core principles of co-management are introduced, and then two types of Canadian co-management case studies are outlined. The final section illustrates the key lessons learned from co-management in Canada and notes the conditions that contribute to building a successful co-management regime. These serve, in turn, to suggest strategies that communities might pursue in seeking co-management as a resource management model for their context. Ultimately, the central theme is the critical importance of power-sharing between co-management partners in achieving a joint management system that is effective and equitable in addressing the concerns of the respective participants.

# Contents

Abstract	i
Contents	ii
Introduction: Sharing the Experience of Power	1
PART 1: What is Co-Management?	4
1.1 Core Principles of Co-Management	4
1.2 Building Co-Management: Basic Elements	7
1.3 Implementing Co-Management: The Challenge of Authority	12
PART 2: The Canadian Experience	18
2.1 Claims-Based Agreements	18
2.2 Crisis-Based Agreements	24
PART 3: Lessons Learned	32
3.1 Benefits of Co-Management	32
3.2 Limitations of Co-Management	37
3.3 Conditions for Successful Co-Management	44
Conclusion: Learning from Others	49
Bibliography	51

## Introduction: Sharing the Experience of Power

In the past three decades, increasing conflict over diminishing resources has resulted in the search for alternative approaches to the traditional 'top-down', state-centred model of managing natural resources. Researchers broadly agree that a more 'bottom-up' or community-centred approach is preferable, particularly in situations where multiple stakeholders are involved in the use of limited resources (Weiner 1991; Binder and Hanbidge 1994; Kanton et al. 1997; Borrini-Fayerabend et al. 2000; Buckles and Rusnak 1999). In these situations, the over-use or mismanagement of resources means that these ecosystems are often in a state of crisis, a situation compounded as the number of users wishing to access the resource base increases.

A popular alternative approach to multi-stakeholder resource management is the creation of joint management regimes that are based on local stakeholders managing the resource(s) together with state managers. Such cooperative management ('co-management') is based on the assumption that more effective management will result from involving local users in the decision-making process. In many cases, 'more effective management' is typically interpreted by state managers and taken to mean reduced conflict amongst users resulting in enhanced ecosystem or resource health. Moreover, most co-management systems only involve local users in a 'consultative' fashion: local partners are present in the joint decision-making process as 'advisors', not as empowered decision makers. In these scenarios, local stakeholders still have no real power over the decisions affecting the resources being managed. As such, the state remains largely in control of a joint management process that differs little from a top-down model, and stakeholder conflict and environmental degradation continue (Usher 1986; Osherenko 1988; Pinkerton 1989; Finlayson 1994).

In Canada, over two decades of experience with co-management show that for local users, generally aboriginal peoples, such a state-centred definition of co-management failed to meet their needs and interests vis-à-vis the resource(s). For aboriginal peoples in Canada, as for local stakeholders elsewhere, managing resources effectively is intimately related to the economic well-being of these users, and a sense that they have been 'empowered' to have some control over the external accessing of the resources that they depend upon for both subsistence and commercial purposes (Feit 1988; Berkes, et al. 1991; Kanton, et al. 1997). Researchers therefore began to emphasize that a key question concerning the efficacy of co-management is, *to what extent do these management arrangements give local users an effective voice in determining the use and access of local resources* (Nakashima 1991; Mulrennan 1994; Hoekema 1995; Feit 1998; Goetze 1998, Buckles and Rusnak 1999)?

In light of this, the purpose of this report is to convey the Canadian experience with comanagement of natural resources for the benefit of local peoples and state managers in developing areas who are interested in multi-stakeholder strategies for managing contested and/or depleted resources. The report builds on an existing working paper (Rusnak 1997) in providing readers with:

- (1) An expanded *review* of co-management in Canada;
- (2) *Case studies*, which feature long-established co-management models that highlight the importance of *power-sharing* between local stakeholders and the state;
- (3) Key *lessons*, including benefits and limitations, for communities seeking greater levels of control over access to and management of local resources via comanagement; and
- (4) *Conditions* for building effective co-management models that suggest *strategies* to consider in pursuing co-management arrangements.

In providing readers with this information, the central theme of this report revolves around the critical importance of power-sharing between co-management partners. The devolution of real decision-making authority to local co-managers is key to achieving a joint management system that is effective and equitable in protecting the interests and addressing the management concerns of local stakeholder participants vis-à-vis the resource priorities of the state.

## PART 1: What is Co-Management?

#### **1.1 Core Principles of Co-Management**

Researchers in Canada have put forward a variety of definitions to answer the question, 'what is co-management?' Osherenko's definition, most often cited in the literature, is an early attempt to define the term, and she notes that it is based on a definition of the term 'regime'; co-management regimes are defined as:

"institutional arrangements in which government agencies with jurisdiction over resources and user groups enter into an agreement covering a specific geographic region and spelling out: 1) a system of rights and obligations for those interested in the resource; 2) a collection of rules indicating actions that subjects are expected to take under various circumstances; 3) procedures for making collective decisions affecting the interests of government actors, user organizations and individual users" (1988:13).

Other researchers have tended to suggest more general definitions of co-management. Weiner, for instance, defines it as referring to "the sharing of management authority by more than one subdivision of government or other parties" (1991:5). Berkes, George and Preston suggest, "the term broadly refers to various levels of integration of local and state-level management systems. Co-management [involves] the sharing of power and responsibility between the government and local resource users" (1991:6). Feit, again speaking generally, states that "co-management...involves some working arrangement between state-mandated agents and individuals or groups of wildlife users who themselves have a role in managing the resources...co-management may serve as an important institution linking self-managers and state-managers" (1988:39).

To summarize: in the Canadian context, co-management broadly refers to a negotiated legal agreement between local stakeholders and the state to jointly manage an identified natural resource. Being a very broad statement, such a definition leads to further questions and is open to a variety of interpretations by both state managers and local stakeholders. Since there is no widely accepted, *comprehensive* definition of co-management (Berkes et al. 1991; Berkes 1994; Ivanitz 1996), it is best to begin by looking at the key principles by which co-management regimes typically operate in order to understand what co-management does and how it works.

#### A. Cooperation in decision-making

In Canada, the parties to an agreement typically include provincial governments and aboriginal peoples with outstanding political claims against the state. However, in many cases, other local stakeholders are participants in the process, and this is more common in co-management that emerges from an (impending) environmental crisis. In rare instances, this includes industry representatives. Regardless of who is involved, cooperation between stakeholders is the core principle of co-management in that it seeks to promote a 'team effort' among stakeholders (Jacobsohn 1993). Once a basic level of cooperation is established, it can be broadened gradually to include a variety of management responsibilities. It is key to remember that co-management is less about managing resources and more about managing relationships between people (Usher 1986, Pinkerton 1989, Finlayson 1994, Hoekema 1995); more specifically, it is about redefining or negotiating new relationships between people with varying interests in, and varying degrees of authority over, the resource (Goetze 1998 and 2002). These new relationships are ideally characterized by cooperation, as opposed to competition. With that as the primary concern, institutions for management must be designed to facilitate this process. While the institutions are important as vehicles for cooperative efforts, they are most effective insofar as they provide a forum for promoting relationships of mutual trust and open communication. The principle of partnership, of

working towards creating mutual interests among stakeholders once in competition, is central in building effective co-management systems.

#### B. Compromise and mediation

All parties concerned need to compromise for co-management to be successful. In order for decisions to be made, differences in interests and cultural values must be identified, discussed and, in most cases, adjusted. Expectations similarly must be clearly voiced and negotiated. The objective is for actors once engaged in antagonistic relations defined by competition and conflict to become partners in the cooperative framework. The idea is to *create an alliance* out of stakeholders who are typically adversaries in disagreement on a variety of levels (Cassidy and Dale 1988). The mediation of these differing interests is an ongoing process, for it is likely that they will never be truly reconciled. Instead, the idea is to integrate these various interests into a broader common goal; usually, this relates primarily to the sustainable use, management and development of the resource(s).

#### C. Sharing power with local stakeholders

Co-management is based most importantly on the principle of power-sharing, typically between state agencies and local users. In this sense, there is a provision for the *devolution of decision-making authority* to the local level (Osherenko 1988; Berkes et al. 1991; Wiener 1991). The idea is to make resource management more of a 'bottom-up' approach by promoting cooperation between state managers and local stakeholders. Even so, the transfer of decision-making authority does not necessarily involve a significant shift in power relations between local communities and the state, because it often does not involve the transfer of legislative authority (Goetze 1998). Although various participants may use the term 'co-management' to imply equality between stakeholders, it is not usefully designed to create absolute equality in the power relations between parties to the agreement. Nor could it, given that national or

regional governments are key stakeholders in all resource management. Therefore, arrangements for sharing authority in co-management must be carefully considered, since it is highly unlikely that each stakeholder in a resource management process could wield the same level of authority: in most cases, local users do not have the money nor the political influence that state and industrial stakeholders enjoy (Ivanitz 1996). The notion of having shared decision-making refers more to the fact that multiple parties are involved in the process. It does not mean that they all have the same amount of either political or economic power within that process.

Clearly, several ambiguities remain in the meaning of co-management, particularly in applying the principle of power-sharing between state managers and local stakeholders. As a result, when putting co-management agreements *into practice*, a wide variety of provisions for mediation, cooperation and sharing power has emerged. In reality, then, the term 'co-management' includes a broad spectrum of joint management arrangements.

#### 1.2 Building Co-Management: Basic Elements

Although co-management systems are basically similar, their design often accords with the specific requirements of a particular resource or ecosystem and the particular demands of local stakeholders. In Canada, the latter typically include indigenous peoples with political agendas that are strongly tied to control over lands and resources. Thus, co-management regimes differ considerably in practice, as a result of the numerous ways in which certain basic elements are mobilized.

#### A. Reasons for initiating co-management

Many factors prompt the pursuit of co-management in an area. They usually include one or several of the following:

Signs of decline in the resource(s) of importance to multiple users;

- Advanced crisis in the resource(s) important to multiple users;
- Conflict and/or competition between local stakeholders over use, access, allocation and/ or development of the resource(s);
- Conflict over resource management strategies and/or planning between state managers and local users;
- Conflict between indigenous and state management systems;
- Indigenous demands for participation in resource management on their claimed traditional territories; and/or
- Protection of indigenous interests where treaties are being negotiated.

Ultimately, the key motivational factor for developing co-management systems is *the real or perceived mismanagement* of the resource(s), stemming from or leading to conflict between stakeholders (Osherenko 1988; Doubleday 1989; Pinkerton 1989; Berkes et al. 1991, Weiner 1991; Notzke 1994; Goetze 1998).

#### B. Legal bases of co-management

In Canada, co-management systems may be recognized as either *claims-based* or *crisis-based* legal agreements. *Claims-based agreements* set up shared bodies for managing resources in a land claim settlement area. They often are initiated by similar concerns for the health of one or many resources due to mismanagement or the incursion of development. However, land claims are part of a larger legal framework in Canada that recognizes the process of land claims negotiations as both a necessary and legitimate process for improving relations with aboriginal peoples (Berkes 1989; Doubleday 1989; RCAP 1996). In these types of agreements, co-management is only one aspect of a series of provisions that involves the devolution of various degrees of governance authority to aboriginal peoples. Part 2 reviews the James Bay and Northern Quebec Agreement as an example of co-management that is included as part of a land claims agreement.

Alternatively, co-management systems may be initiated as a sort of 'emergency measure' to address what is seen as a growing ecological crisis, which often leads to related political and/or economic crises in the form of protests and boycotts. Such *crisis-based agreements* are established as more immediate stopgap measures designed to protect one or more resources from further development incursions, perceived mismanagement or unsustainable use due to unregulated competition. Often, such agreements are negotiated to address a growing conflict (1) between local resource users and the state management system; (2) between local stakeholders and state-sanctioned industry or development; and/or (3) among local stakeholders themselves (Goetze 1998). Where aboriginal peoples are involved, co-management of this nature may be designed to protect their claimed rights to authority over traditional lands and resources during, or in anticipation of, a process of broader land claims negotiations. The Central Region Board, in Clayoquot Sound, British Columbia provides an excellent example of this and is discussed further in Part 2.

#### C. Objectives of co-management

While many co-management agreements are in operation in Canada, the goals of sharing management responsibility with local stakeholders are similar, and easily identified (Osherenko 1988; Pinkerton 1989; Berkes et al. 1991; Weiner 1991; RCAP 1996). Typically, the objectives of co-management include one or all of the following:

- Resource protection, enhancement and conservation;
- Coordination of use, planning and management strategies;
- The integration of state and local/indigenous management and/or knowledge systems;
- Conflict resolution;
- Promoting sustainable economic development opportunities for local stakeholders; and

Protection of indigenous rights and interests in an area of outstanding political claim.

Above all, the *main objective* of most co-management regimes is resource management that is "more appropriate, more efficient, and more equitable" (Pinkerton 1989:5).

These primary objectives may be further enhanced when associated with one or more of the *secondary goals* of sharing management responsibilities (Pinkerton 1989; Usher 1993; Goetze 1998), which include co-management as a means of achieving:

- Community-based development,
- Decentralized decision-making,
- Long-term, community-based conflict management,
- Revitalized indigenous cultural practices or knowledge systems that are resource related,
- Strengthened indigenous leadership,
- Protected or enhanced subsistence economy, and
- State confidence in community-based, decision-making processes.

#### D. The management focus

Co-management systems may be *resource specific*, focusing on a single resource such as fisheries or a species of wildlife such as caribou. Examples of this type of co-management system include the Beverly-Kaminuriak Caribou Management Board (Usher 1993), and the Wendaben [Forestry] Stewardship Authority (Benidickson 1996). Alternatively, agreements may be *comprehensive*, involving several resources or areas of resource management, including forestry, mining, wildlife, parks and general land use planning. This sort of co-management is exemplified in the James Bay Coordinating Committee on Hunting, Fishing and Trapping (Feit 1989), the Inuvialuit

Final Agreement (Doubleday 1989) and the Gwich'in Renewable Resource Board (Spak 2002).

The focus of management may vary also in that different agreements will accord different levels of significance to the various functions of resource management. Moreover, they may focus more or less energy on activities such as allocation, enhancement, access, planning and development, enforcement, protection, extraction procedures and regulation, to name but a few.

#### E. Provisions for co-management

Swerdfager (1992) outlines the six general provisions typically included as institutional and operational basics for co-management boards:

- Collectively formulated *decisions*, which make clear the meaning of terms used.
- Principles that guide all concepts, plans and actions of the board. Principles set the tone for the rest of the agreement. Common co-management principles included conservation, sustainability and/or stewardship in management; cooperation in management, implementation, decision-making and enforcement; shared interest in and use of a commonly held resource; links to other management initiatives at the regional, national or international level; and consideration for the interests of non-signatory stakeholders in the area.
- Explicitly articulated *objectives* with measurable results in order to clarify the goals of the agreement.
- An outline of the *scope* of the agreement in terms of the geographical region involved, the parties to the agreement, the management issues to be considered by the agreement and its relation to other management activities in the area.

- A description of the *management structures*. This determines the power relations between stakeholders and outlines the authority, responsibilities and duties of the management body. It should clarify issues such as membership and representation, allowances for public participation and degree of incorporation of expressed public opinion, and the harvest rights, needs and allocations for each stakeholder involved in or affected by the agreement.
- A section on *implementation* of the agreement that delimits the conditions for fulfilling the objectives and responsibilities of the management body. This should include eligibility criteria; methods of enforcement of the agreement and management decisions; deadlines for implementation of agreement and decisions; funding source(s); level and timelines for distribution; and a 'variance clause' with provisions for the review, evaluation and modification of the agreement as well as a mechanism for dispute resolution.

Clearly, there is a wide spectrum of possible configurations in building a comanagement regime. For this reason, it is difficult to formulate a system of classification for co-management that captures a structural and processual commonality among the existing models. The situation may appear further complicated upon closer examination, which reveals that, in the process of implementing comanagement, boards have access to different levels of authority in the decision-making process.

#### 1.3 Implementing Co-Management: The Challenge of Authority

In addition to the variations that emerge in the motivations, scope and objectives of comanagement systems, a significant difference exists in the level of authority available to the parties to an agreement to 'jointly' manage natural resources. The terms 'participation', 'power-sharing' and 'decision-making' can each *imply* various degrees of authority between local participants and the state with which they have entered a legal agreement.

Co-management typically operates through *management boards* comprised of equal numbers of indigenous or local stakeholder representatives and state managers. They also include a chair, sometimes independent. Many co-management boards begin with a focus on resource protection or enhancement initiatives, a concern for all parties involved and therefore usually the most easily pursued as regards making decisions jointly.

It is precisely at this point of implementation, in terms of *applying* the decision-making process, that it becomes clear that a key difference in co-management regimes lies in *the degree of decision-making power legally accorded the local stakeholders*. Researchers and local participants alike argue that 'real' co-management involves legally entrenched, shared decision-making power by equally enabled partners, which requires governments to devolve a measure of power to local partners. However, in reality, years of putting co-management into practice reveal, "there is a wide variety of partnership arrangements that involve various degrees of power-sharing" (Berkes 1994:18).

As a result of this noticeable trend, several analyses of co-management refer to a sort of *continuum of power-sharing* along which various co-management models may be plotted. At one end, state authority is emphasized; at the other, local authority is stronger.

Berkes, George and Preston (1991) formulate a particularly detailed comanagement continuum. Based on a ladder analogy, participation in comanagement is conceptualized as rungs that progress from lower levels of negligible power to higher levels of substantial power-sharing and authority in decision-making. The end result is a *range of systems* beginning with those in which communities are only involved in research ('informing'), to those that provide for local management of local resources ('partnership').

- Kearney (1989) reduces the various fisheries co-management arrangements into three categories that reflect the level of power-sharing between government and local users: (1) government remains the only decision maker, while seeking the advice of local users in a process of consultation; (2) local users implement and enforce government management strategies, accepting them as beneficial; and (3) local users are involved in decision-making in a process of 'comprehensive participation' that includes policy formulation, acceptance and implementation.
- Ivanitz (1996) asserts that within a wide range of structural forms, three models of co-management are most common: advisory boards, management boards and joint stewardship boards. Advisory boards are the 'most basic' co-management structure and have no decision-making power of their own; power is limited to making recommendations to ministers. Management boards are 'mid-range' on the scale of power-sharing in that they may make some management decisions, which often, but not always, are binding. Joint stewardship boards are the most autonomous and the most powerful of co-management regimes. These boards are totally decentralized and have input into all areas of decision-making within the area of board jurisdiction. They have decision-making powers equal to that of government.

In considering how far co-management shares power with local stakeholders, particularly indigenous peoples, other criteria also should be taken into account. Wiener (1991) suggests that the *level of authority for enforcement* needs to be considered. The authority of 'external enforcement' would give the co-managers the power to enforce decisions against non-signatories operating within the geographical region of the agreement, or whose resource-related activities affect the resources covered by the agreement. Conversely, authority limited to 'internal enforcement' would limit participants to enforcing decisions only against parties to the agreement. Clearly,

possessing the authority to enforce management decisions externally would represent an elevated level of power-sharing.

A second important consideration is the *source of local authority*, whether it is delegated by the state or emerges from independent authority. In determining whether authority is independent of government delegation, its source must be examined. For instance, 'independent authority' might be one that is based on recognition of indigenous authority over territories, or the legitimacy of traditional ecological knowledge. Thus, one should ask, is the authority of the co-management board negotiated with or delegated by government? Certainly from the perspective of indigenous peoples with historical treaty claims against the state, co-management regimes whose authority is based on negotiation between autonomous political actors as opposed to government-delegated authority rank higher on the continuum than ones that are not (Weiner 1991).

Decision-making power also might be augmented in co-management agreements with the inclusion of *veto power for local co-managers*. This is especially useful for indigenous participants whose interests are not protected by other legal provisions, such as treaties. As such, a veto would serve to protect indigenous rights or territories until treaty claims are resolved (Wiener 1991; Goetze 1998 and 2002). The extent to which indigenous co-managers realistically might exercise that veto, as a means of leverage against government decisions or policies that infringe on those rights or interests, should be considered.

Taking these criteria together, the continuum of co-management power-sharing may be conceptualized as having, at the highest level, maximal power-sharing in decision-making through co-management boards with a negotiated, independent base of authority, legally binding decisions that are externally enforceable and veto power over government decisions affecting traditional territories or protected interests (Figure 1).

Minimal Power $\rightarrow$ Moderate Power $\rightarrow$ Maximal Power									
INFORMI NG Communit y is informed about rules, regulation s and decisions already made by governme nt.	COOPERATI ON Community starts to have advisory input into management, e.g., use of local knowledge/ indigenous research assistants.	IC go in ex co to m pl re	OMMUNICAT ON Start of overnment- ser formation kchange; local oncerns begin enter into anagement ans and/or esearch gendas.	CC ES in sta sta an ac co ob	DVISORY DMMITTE artnership decision- aking arts; arch for d/or joint tion on mmon jectives gins.	MANAGEME NT BOARDS Community participation in decision- making; involves developing and implementing management plans.	COMMUNIT Y CONTROL Partnership of equals in which joint decision- making is institutionaliz ed; resources managed locally.	Berkes et al. 1991	
Governmen decision ma the advice o process of c	Implementation and enforcement of government management strategies by local users who accept these as beneficial.		Local users are involved in decision-making; 'comprehensive participation' that includes policy formulation, acceptance and implementation.		Kearney 1989				
MOST BAS Advisory co- structures, v making pow power is lim recommend	MID-RANGE Management boards that may make some management decisions, which often, but not always, are binding.		MOST AUTONOMOUS Joint stewardship boards that are totally decentralized and have input into all decision- making within areas of board jurisdiction; decision-making powers equal to government.		Ivanitz 1996				
Boards with state-delegated authority, and consultative status, whose decisions are non- binding and can only be enforced upon parties to the agreement. Local/indigenous participants have little or no leverage over government decisions that may negatively affect their traditional territories. Ultimate authority to accept decisions remains with ministers. Traditional ecological knowledge is not integrated into management decisions or plans. Boards with negotiated, independent and determinative authority, whose decisions are legally binding on all actors engaged in activities that affect the resource(s) within the board's jurisdiction. Local/indigenous participants have veto power over government decisions affecting resources in their traditional territories covered by the agreement. Traditional ecological knowledge informs both management decisions and planning.						Other			

**Figure 1. The Co-Management Continuum.** The spectrum of power-sharing possibilities in co-management regimes (from Goetze 1998).

In implementing co-management, it is important to pay attention to the question of whether real power-sharing will take place at the board level or whether "a coordinating committee is used just to ratify decisions taken elsewhere within the state apparatus" (Hoekema 1995:181). Certainly, governments will be reluctant to negotiate maximal power-sharing arrangements without good reason, which usually involves a combination of events involving a crisis in the resource, significant political pressure and/or a considerable threat to a regional economy. When leveraged by local stakeholders, such conditions increase their negotiating position in seeking greater authority in joint management arrangements. The importance of capitalizing on such contextual realities when negotiating co-management with the state cannot be overstated. Such strategies can prove highly effective for gaining increased devolution of decision-making power for local co-managers.

Note, however, that even facing such conditions, governments in Canada continue to resist sharing determinative authority with local-level co-management boards, including those involving indigenous peoples with legally recognized rights to resources. This has been the case with resources such as fisheries or forestry. Governments in other settler states with encapsulated indigenous populations have been equally loath to devolve significant power to co-management boards. This is despite the fact that a significant amount of knowledge of the resource base and the motivation for its sustainable use lie with local users. Given this understanding, it makes the most sense for management "to have as much local-level control and responsibility as possible and only so much government regulation as necessary" (Berkes 1994:20).

## **PART 2: The Canadian Experience**

Co-management has been available as a resource management alternative in Canada since the 1970s when the first such agreement was negotiated to resolve ongoing conflict over resource extraction in the Province of Quebec. In the last three decades, numerous co-management agreements have been negotiated, mostly with indigenous peoples as they typically seek to address unresolved claims against the Canadian state for increased aboriginal autonomy within the liberal-democratic system. A central part of these claims concerns the control and use of traditional indigenous territories and their resources.<sup>1</sup> As such, resource co-management is often only one aspect of much broader treaties between indigenous peoples and the provincial and federal governments that seek to shift the relationship from one of aboriginal dependency to one based on aboriginal self-determination and indigenous – state partnership in affairs of mutual interest.<sup>2</sup> These areas of mutual interest necessarily involve the use, access, management and ownership of lands and waters and their available resources.

#### 2.1 Claims-Based Agreements

Claims-based co-management agreements are best described as negotiated, long-term legal agreements that establish shared bodies for managing resources in an area claimed as being of traditional indigenous occupation, use or interest. Increasing incursions upon a resource base in the form of development or resource extraction often prompt such agreements (Berkes 1989; Doubleday 1989). In Canada, they are negotiated exclusively with aboriginal peoples in relation to outstanding political claims against the state in regard to the recognition, protection and practice of inherent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> However, examples of local community-based management committees instituted to 'advise' state managers are emerging in the absence of indigenous claims.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In Canada, the provinces hold jurisdiction over resources and their management, so comanagement agreements are negotiated with provincial governments. The federal government, however, has primary jurisdiction over aboriginal affairs and development in northern regions, so broad land claim treaties are negotiated with both the federal and provincial governments.

aboriginal rights, which include title rights to lands and resources, and rights to selfdetermination and self-government (Usher 1986, Goetze 1998). Since land claims agreements are based on indigenous demands for the ability to apply these rights within the settler state system, they necessarily involve provisions for the allocation, use and management of natural resources.

The many examples of this form of co-management in Canada include the 1978 Northeastern Quebec Agreement, 1984 Inuvialuit Final Agreement and the 1993 Nunavut Land Claims Agreement. In many cases, the provisions for co-management are only a part of a larger agreement that provides for broader structures of aboriginal governance, including education, justice and health care. Such is the case for the James Bay and Northern Quebec Agreement (JBNQA) signed between the Cree of James Bay, the Inuit of northern Quebec, the Province of Quebec and the federal government in 1975. As the first negotiated co-management agreement in Canada (Berkes 1989; Feit 1989), the JBNQA also represents a good example of a claimsbased agreement for further discussion, given the depth of experience that has emerged while implementing provisions.

#### The James Bay Experience

The James Bay experience with co-management began, like many others, with the proposal of a new resource development project with serious implications for the health of the environment upon which Cree and Inuit relied for their subsistence and commercial use. In this case, it was a hydroelectric initiative that would radically alter the landscape and environment of the northern Quebec and James Bay region where the Cree and Inuit had maintained traditional hunter-gatherer lifestyles, including various subsistence hunting, trapping and fishing activities (Feit 1988). For many years, researchers have documented and espoused the sophisticated and well-developed quality of this traditional 'self-management' system of resource monitoring, allocation and use (Scott 1979; Feit 1988 and 1989). Prior to the proposal of

hydroelectric development in the north of Quebec, Cree and Inuit had enjoyed longterm success with the sustainable use and management of natural resources. For years, Cree and Inuit had taken issue with increasing intrusion into their traditional lands by developers, but when they challenged the new project in court, the provincial government took note.

The James Bay Hydroelectric Development Project is a mega-project aimed at constructing dams to provide power for Quebec residents and for sale abroad. Under the shadow of such large-scale development, the Cree and Inuit were motivated largely by the strong desire to protect, as much as possible, their indigenous lifeways (Cassidy and Dale 1988). Their primary concern in negotiating their land claim was to allow these subsistence activities to continue largely through provisions that would secure the protection of lands and resources. After several years of difficult negotiations, a final tripartite agreement was signed in November 1975 with the federal and provincial governments.

#### Provisions of the Agreement

As a comprehensive land claim, the JBNQA includes a wide range of provisions that provides the Cree and Inuit with cash compensation for lands lost to dam development, income security for subsistence resource users, and self-government powers including health care, education and justice. There are also provisions for full control over certain lands, social and environmental impact assessment of all development initiatives, and social and economic development for aboriginal partners. Provisions relating broadly to resource management include: (1) exclusive aboriginal harvesting rights reserved in certain land areas; (2) priority for aboriginal harvesting and guaranteed levels of aboriginal harvest in other land areas, subject to conservation objectives; (3) reservation of certain species of fish and wildlife for exclusive aboriginal use; and (4) recognition of elements of the traditional indigenous system of resource management (Berkes 1989, Feit 1989 and 1998).

In terms of co-management, the JBNQA created the Hunting, Fishing, and Trapping Coordinating Committee, a board for the joint management of resources between the provincial government and the aboriginal parties to the Agreement.<sup>3</sup> The Committee consists of eight aboriginal and eight state representatives, and has a secretariat and three resource-specific working groups associated with it. According to the JBNQA, the Committee is the primary forum for all matters relating to wildlife in the JBNQA area, whether taken up by Cree or the Province. The Coordinating Committee's responsibilities include recommending conservation measures, dealing with management-related information, supervising harvest research and participating in environmental impact assessments. It also acts as "a forum for Native concerns" (Berkes 1989:192). In terms of the level of authority the Committee enjoys, aboriginal negotiators insisted that they have final decision-making authority, or equal authority to that of the state managers. So, the Agreement recognizes state authority, while constraining and limiting it, but it also recognizes aboriginal authority. Unfortunately, it fails to provide the indigenous partners with equal financial resources and legal standing. Ultimately, although the parties agreed on the creation of the Coordinating Committee in negotiations, the matter of power-sharing and control of the joint system was left unresolved, and the board was established as "primarily a consultative body" (Feit 1989:82). As such, the Committee is an advisory board that is limited to making recommendations, albeit directly, to the relevant provincial or federal minister (Berkes 1989).

#### JBNQA Co-Management in Practice

In the years since JBNQA negotiation, researchers have considered the implementation of co-management and concluded that it "appears to be only partially workable" and have highlighted a number of issues yet to be resolved (Feit 1989:82). As with many legal agreements, the resulting system is complex and heavily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Co-management also exists over forestry though the environment regime, but it has not been implemented (see Feit and Beaulieu 2001).

bureaucratized. The provisions of JBNQA are complicated and have caused confusion and endless debate over interpretation (Berkes 1989). In terms of decision-making, the process can become stalled over the different priorities of participants in the north and south of the vast agreement area. Important issues become mired in the minutiae of procedures (Feit 1989). More importantly, the Coordinating Committee has only an advisory function and its recommendations are often ignored, particularly if they go against existing policies. Further, rejections often arrive without explanation from the minister (Berkes 1989). In other words, the Committee has no mandate to make decisions; it has no legal authority or binding leverage over the behaviour of government managers. In practice, governments continue to regard the Committee as an institution to be "consulted only casually and after major policy decisions have been made rather than as an integrated system of advice with a role in all stages of government policy development and implementation" (Feit 1989:83).

In addition, while the Coordinating Committee may include other stakeholders such as recreational fishers via government representation, many resent the provision for exclusive aboriginal harvest rights over certain areas and species. This has become the source of tension and conflict between Cree and sport fishers. Yet the government refuses to let the Committee deal with such conflicts, even though aboriginal members wish to work to resolve them (Feit 2001). Also, government managers have been reluctant to implement provisions regarding aboriginal priority rights to resource harvesting and have not always acted in the interest of conservation needs in formulating policy, responding instead to the lobbying of non-aboriginal interest groups (Feit 1989). Other issues identified include communication difficulties between the four language groups, a lack of focus on long-term issues, absenteeism of government representatives, a low level of confidence in aboriginal management systems and a structure that is culturally foreign to traditional subsistence users (Berkes 1989:203-4), a lack of funds for policing non-aboriginal activity, and a lack of enforcement on the part of governments (Feit 1989).

Initial research found that the James Bay Agreement promoted "greater local participation in living resources management" and was "generally successful in meeting some of the broader policy objectives" laid out in the Agreement (Berkes 1989:200). A decade later, such a vision of success has been tempered by observations highlighting the difficulties experienced by Cree participants in trying to protect their hunting interests vis-à-vis the disruptive presence of sport hunters; in recent years, the Cree have sensed a loss of control and authority over the activities taking place on their territories, despite their participation in the JBNQA (Scott and Webber 2001). On the other hand, a clearly significant accomplishment may be found in securing government recognition of aboriginal rights and priorities to natural resources, and legally protecting those rights from unilateral government extinguishment (Feit 1989). The JBNQA also has control of the development of outfitting operations and commercial fisheries. In this way, it provides certain safeguards for aboriginal participants, meaning they are in a strong legal position that allows them to control their territories and therefore "have a better chance to escape marginalization in their own land" than other indigenous groups without agreements (Berkes 1989:197).

Since the Agreement recognizes the existence, utility and value of aboriginal selfmanagement systems, and limits the amount of government control in applying these systems, the Committee has not had to wrestle with government managers over the indigenous ability to effectively manage resources. Initially, aboriginal peoples continued to manage and harvest resources in essentially the same independent manner as prior to the Agreement, yet with the added benefit of a reduction of government interference via regulation (Feit 1989).<sup>4</sup> Into the 1990s, however, the increasing activities of sport hunters and the forestry industry have seriously disrupted this situation; matters are currently in dispute between parties to the Agreement (Feit 2001; Scott and Webber 2001). The Committee also is involved in social and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The same may not be said, however, for forestry issues, where Cree rights have been soundly ignored (Feit, personal communication, 2003).

environmental impact assessments, meaning that the aboriginal voice is always present in evaluating new development proposals on their territories. Finally, traditional knowledge has been integrated successfully into the shared management process under the JBNQA. Aboriginal parties to the Agreement have been employed as researchers in cooperatively run projects, have access to research results and generally enjoy an increased level of influence over the direction of resource-related research via direct input, a consultation requirement, and the control of permits (Berkes 1989).

#### 2.2 Crisis-Based Agreements

Crisis-based agreements are typically negotiated as stopgap or emergency institutional arrangements designed to protect one or more resources immediately threatened by development, over-use or mismanagement. The crisis may not be limited to the state of the resource, but may include the related conflict involving any combination of local stakeholders, industry, governments and other interest groups, such as environmental organizations. While these may include a variety of stakeholders, in Canada they typically involve aboriginal peoples and state managers as participants. In these cases, the agreements aim to protect and preserve lands and resources claimed by an aboriginal group while a more comprehensive land claim is being negotiated. As such, they are often referred to, either formally or informally, as 'interim measures' agreements, and have a limited term of application pending the finalization of the ongoing land claims negotiations.

Examples of crisis-based agreements include the Wendaban Stewardship Authority that provides for the joint management of an old-growth forest area in northern Ontario claimed by the Teme-Augama Anishinabai while their land claim process proceeds (RCAP 1996). Similar to the Teme-Augama case, the Central Region Board (CRB) was created to jointly manage, among other resources, a large area of old-growth forests on the west coast of Vancouver Island in British Columbia. As an interim measure,

however, the CRB is unique in the degree of power it shares with aboriginal parties to the agreement. In this way, it represents an excellent model of 'empowered' comanagement that may be negotiated between governments and local stakeholders.

#### The Central Region Board Experience

The Central Region Board was created in 1994 under the *Interim Measures Agreement for Clayoquot Sound* (IMA), signed by the Central Region Nuu-chah-nulth First Nations and the provincial government of British Columbia. The Agreement arose out of both resistance and negotiation between local peoples and the state. In this sense, co-management in Clayoquot Sound emerged from a combination of the massive 1993 protests over abusive forest practices in the area, Nuu-chah-nulth alliances with powerful international conservation groups and the persistent lobbying efforts of the Nuu-chah-nulth First Nations for recognition of their rights to lands and resources in the area. Prior to the negotiation of the IMA, resource management and land use planning in Clayoquot Sound was problematic from a number of perspectives. Overall, the provincial government's approach used for managing the area's primary resource, temperate rainforests, could be described as unsustainable and negligent. Forestry corporations pursued their ambitions for short-term profit through maximally efficient extraction with little interference from the Province, whose objective was to encourage economic development and job creation in British Columbia (Drushka 1993).

Having become a powerhouse in British Columbia's resource-based economy, the forest industry exerted increasing influence on provincial management policy. Local interests were of secondary concern, if any. Compliance with forestry guidelines to protect other resource values such as salmon spawning streams, recreation and tourism was relegated to a system of self-policing. Community consultation was cursory, and the provincial government's policy regarding aboriginal consultation, participation and protection of rights was only marginally acknowledged by forestry

companies, if at all. The political and economic incentive for timber extraction meant that the Province routinely ignored enforcing these policies (Pinkerton 1993).

After years of environmental protest, months of civil disobedience and mounting national and international pressure, the Province of British Columbia entered into negotiations with the Nuu-chah-nulth First Nations. The Province of BC and the five Nuu-chah-nulth Nations with traditional territories in the area signed the IMA in March 1994. It was designed as an emergency measure to protect the lands and resources to which the Nuu-chah-nulth laid claim as part of the extended process of treaty negotiations with the provincial and federal governments. It was also aimed at reducing the conflict between local stakeholders, government and industry with competing interests in the area.

#### Provisions of the Agreement

The provisions for resource management in the IMA centre on the creation of a new, cooperative management institution, the Central Region Board, designed to oversee all land-use decisions in Clayoquot Sound. Board membership consists of five Nuu-chah-nulth, five provincial representatives and two co-chairs, one Nuu-chah-nulth and one provincial. The Province soon opened up its membership to be held by representatives of local non-native interests. So, in reality, local community members representing the tourism, hospitality, logging, environmental, administrative and political interests of local non-native stakeholders in Clayoquot hold the five provincial seats on the CRB. The provincial co-chair alone is directly representative of the Province's interests.

Primarily, the CRB is mandated to (1) review all resource-related policies, plans and proposals, whether from government ministries, local developers, or forestry corporations, and (2) approve, reject or defer, pending suggested modifications, proposals according to the resource management objectives of the IMA. These include conserving existing resources, protecting and restoring ecological integrity, ensuring sustainability, promoting diversified economic development, and respecting and

protecting aboriginal heritage and uses of resources in Clayoquot Sound (Sinclair 1994).

However, since the IMA covers the management of all lands and resources in the Agreement area, the responsibilities of the Board are broad. The CRB is charged also with encouraging conciliation between stakeholders in the Sound, protecting Nuu-chahnulth rights and promoting integrated management of marine and terrestrial resources. In addition, the Board must implement the many recommendations of the Scientific Panel for Sustainable Forest Practices in Clayoquot Sound, designed to establish a system of 'world-class forestry' in the Sound. Finally, it is to participate in the Clayoquot Sound Planning Process, a process to introduce a new form of ecosystem/community-based land use planning to the region (Sinclair 1994).

Interestingly, the IMA contains provisions regarding a significant degree of decisionmaking authority for aboriginal participants sitting on the CRB. The Agreement allows for the CRB to reach its decisions by vote or consensus. Since its inception, the Board has operated by consensus, a slower but more inclusive process. Should voting be necessary, a 'double majority' clause would come into effect. As understood by Nuuchah-nulth, this means that a majority of Nuu-chah-nulth as well as a majority of all CRB members is required for a decision to pass. As the Province understands it, double majority requires a majority of both Nuu-chah-nulth and provincial representatives. Either way, the clause gives the Nuu-chah-nulth participants veto power over decisions that may negatively affect their interests. Although the provincial cabinet may overturn CRB decisions, if this occurs, the Central Region Resource Council (CRRC), composed of Nuu-chah-nulth Hereditary Chiefs and cabinet ministers, would be assembled to conduct a public inquiry into the reversal. Given the inherent volatility of resource issues in Clayoquot Sound, this is a situation the provincial government would rather avoid (Goetze 1998). The presence of the 'veto' element is unique to this co-management agreement in Canada and, along with recourse to the CRRC, is what moves the IMA beyond consultation to what can be called substantive power-sharing. Under the IMA, Central Region Nuu-chah-nulth have real, determinative authority to *make decisions* about resource use in Clayoquot Sound. In the history of its operation, the CRB has never invoked double majority, and there has been no attempt to reverse any of its decisions regarding resource management and land use in Clayoquot Sound. The level of control the CRB affords Central Region Nuu-chah-nulth over the management of resources on their traditional territories may be referred to as 'empowered' co-management, because it exceeds the 'advisory powers' that co-management regimes typically grant indigenous participants (Goetze 1998 and 2002).

#### The Central Region Board in Practice

As part of the cooperative management of all natural resources in Clayoquot Sound, except ocean fisheries, the Board reviews all resource use and development proposals.<sup>5</sup> In making its decisions, the CRB receives most of its referrals from the Ministry of Forests (MOF) and the Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks (MELP). All the forest harvesting applications the Board has reviewed have been approved, but modifications were made to many. For instance, the modifications involved demanding stricter compliance with new management guidelines, including: ensuring the integrity of biodiversity in a cutblock; completing inventories and maps of medicinal plants, sacred sites and culturally modified trees important to Nuu-chah-nulth within areas to be harvested; and increasing opportunities for skills training and economic development for local people, especially First Nations. Many referrals from the Lands branch of MELP on wildlife management, foreshore development and aquaculture also have involved conditional approval; a few have been deferred because of a lack of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ocean fisheries are the jurisdiction of the federal Department of Oceans and Fisheries. Since IMA negotiations were strictly bilateral, between the Government of British Columbia and Central Region Nuu-chah-nulth, fisheries such as the salmon fishery could not be included in the mandate of the CRB. However, the IMA does cover foreshore fisheries such as aquaculture, and the harvesting of marine resources such as oysters and clams.

information, and others denied. Clearly, suggestions that the CRB is merely 'rubberstamping' government initiatives for resource development are misplaced.

Although the CRB has proved to be a significant improvement to past methods of managing resources in Clayoquot Sound, it is not flawless. Implementation is a typical area of challenge in all negotiated agreements, but particularly so with arrangements that alter the power dynamic between government and local communities. The significant leverage negotiated by the Nuu-chah-nulth in a power-sharing arrangement with government, together with the omnipresent threat of environmental protest, has checked more serious government stonewalling in implementing IMA provisions. Still, the ministries and government agencies involved in management activities remained unclear on the provisions and objectives of the Agreement and the scope and authority of the CRB after 5 years of operation. On occasion, government ministries have dealt with the Board as an advisory 'referral' body rather than a decision-making body as established under the IMA, and have ignored Board decisions. This bureaucratic resistance to working with the CRB has resulted in delays in implementing Board decisions and other aspects of the IMA. Compounding this resistance is the failure of the Cabinet to encourage ministry compliance with CRB decisions. Communication is lacking also between the Board and the provincial government. Although an annual meeting should be held between the CRB and the relevant Cabinet Ministers, these meetings have been delayed, and are often too short to address some of the issues that are causing delays in the process.

A similar challenge presented itself in terms of community awareness of the function and objectives of the CRB, and with communicating the mission of the CRB to local communities. As a result, the Board took steps to ameliorate local communication by distributing newsletters on Board operations and decisions, opening up meetings to the public, and making its minutes publicly available. Difficulties have occurred in spelling out an overall strategy to guide the CRB in its operations. Until 1997, most of the Board's energy was directed towards short-term issues such as reviewing applications for logging permits, at the expense of dealing with long-term transition issues such as economic diversification and developing plans for viable forestry in the Sound. Being continually inundated with resource or conflict-oriented crisis situations impedes the Board's ability to put its energy toward strategic planning.

Another area of difficulty involves the time-consuming nature of the consensus decision-making process. While it may produce strongly supportable decisions as compared to voting, it has proved problematic for some provincial representatives to adjust to this slower process, which seeks to incorporate divergent views. Lastly, the new resource management process is complex in terms of meeting updated ecosystem management and regional planning recommendations and working with a decision-making body that is community controlled and consensus based. This has slowed the pace of resource extraction and is straining the personal and financial resources of the parties involved. There is no doubt that in the period of transition, comanagement can prove to be a slower, more costly and more administratively complex process (Goetze 1998). The fact that the CRB has encountered these problems, some of them typical among co-management regimes elsewhere and others a result of operating in an extremely complex and at times hostile context, is to be expected. With time and continued support from government and local stakeholders, however, several of these difficulties are being overcome.

Having noted some of the difficulties in implementing co-management in Clayoquot, it is important to note that has been mostly a positive and constructive experience, for Nuu-chah-nulth in particular, but also for the non-native communities in the area. The CRB represents an unprecedented level of control for Nuu-chah-nulth over their territories vis-à-vis the provincial government. By having 'a say' in the form of sharing authority over all resource and land use decisions, Nuu-chah-nulth on the CRB are included as empowered partners in co-managing the resources of Clayoquot Sound. In this sense, participation on the CRB asserts the Nuu-chah-nulth voice, protects their rights and values, and incorporates their traditional ecological knowledge in activities that take place on their traditional territory. Moreover, because it includes local non-aboriginal stakeholders as decision makers, the CRB is an institution that provides a

substantial increase in broad-based local control over local resources to Clayoquot Sound. By involving both local non-aboriginal and Nuu-chah-nulth representatives in shared resource management, the CRB has facilitated the development of cooperative relationships between competing users. Building such constructive relationships is accomplished largely by focusing on consensus decision-making, providing a forum to air grievances, and mediating disputes between stakeholders at the local level (Goetze 1998).

# PART 3: Lessons Learned

## 3.1 Benefits of Co-Management

Co-management can provide a number of benefits for both local stakeholders and governments. Although co-management does not alone represent the solution to the growing crisis in resource (mis)management in many industrialized and developing countries, it can offer significant benefits for local communities and indigenous peoples trying to protect natural resources or assert their rights within the state system.

## A. Improved resource management

The overall benefit of co-management for all stakeholders, both national and local, is an improvement in how resources are managed. Since "the fundamental reason for cooperation is that both sides realize they need each other in order to protect resources they both value" (Osherenko 1988:103), the outcome of averting or resolving a crisis in those valued resources through co-managing is advantageous for all parties involved. Often, simply reducing the level of conflict and competition between users over a resource has positive results (Cassidy and Dale 1988). In this sense, the most significant and immediate benefit of co-management noted in the research is more effective, sustainable and efficient resource management and enforcement (Osherenko 1988; Dale 1989; Pinkerton 1989; Weiner 1991; Usher 1993; RCAP 1996; Christie et al. 2000; Berkes et al. 2001).

Governments particularly appreciate this because involving local resource users in management creates a greater likelihood of compliance. Decisions in which those who use and work with the resource have input are perceived by users as being more sound, and certainly more legitimate, than decisions made by bureaucrats in distant cities or state managers who are present in an area only occasionally (Feit 1989; Pinkerton and Weinstein 1995; Brosius et al. 1998; Goetze 1998; Spak 2002). The coordination of use, planning, research and allocation that co-management typically

introduces significantly improves the health of a resource base through enhancement, rehabilitation, protection, conservation or any number of cooperative strategies that promote sustainability in the management of the resource(s). Done correctly, comanagement can prove more economically expedient by providing government with a means to coordinate among jurisdictions, and allowing more efficient management of multiple resources and multiple objectives. Moreover, as many have argued, it is undeniable that "willing cooperation is less expensive than enforced compliance; practical management depends on cooperation" (Weiner 1991:6).

## B. Increased input from local stakeholders

For local users, the most important benefit is that co-management arrangements can provide them with increased control over resources and their use. Membership on a joint management board gives them an opportunity to participate directly - albeit with different degrees of authority - in the sustainable management of the local resource(s) upon which they depend. Through representation on a co-management board, users have a forum in which they can get more respect and a better hearing of their observations, concerns and grievances. In some cases, governments are bound by board decisions and are answerable to the board in the decisions it makes that might affect local resources.

## C. Improved information gathering and dissemination

Governments now have access to the extensive knowledge of local users who are continually aware of changes in the health of the resource(s). Co-management can in this way "dramatically increase education and information to users of all kinds [and] improve the quality and content of research" (Osherenko 1988:97). In the most effective co-management systems, the indigenous/ traditional local and state management systems are integrated and complement one another:

"Co-management creates the potential for some healthy synergy between the kinds of knowledge held by the two solitudes by enabling the use of detailed local knowledge accumulated through a long series of observations over many generations. Such 'diachronic' data can be of great value and can complement 'synchronic' data – snapshots over large areas – on which science is based" (Berkes 1994:20).

Such boards also provide a means for information sharing among users regarding the state of the resource, and allow users to identify common objectives and develop mutually beneficial strategies for meeting these goals. In Canada, this is particularly noticeable between indigenous and non-indigenous stakeholders. Education through participation in a teamwork-oriented process of decision-making not only can increase the level of knowledge among users of different cultures, but also can foster greater respect between individuals and communities involved in co-management.

## D. Improved and sustainable conflict management

Co-management can reduce conflict between local users and state managers, thereby increasing the acceptability of sustainable use initiatives and reducing the cost of enforcement. Co-management boards provide governments with a venue for consultation with local users, which gives state managers access to a sounding board for government initiatives and an arena for dealing with crises in an orderly manner. In this way, government can avoid the political and economic costs of social protest by environmentalists, First Nations and/or local non-native users. This in turn creates an atmosphere of cooperation between government and users that can reduce the risk of a future crisis in the resource base as a result of unmediated competition and conflict over resource use. As Pinkerton observed among fisheries co-management regimes in Canada:

"Co-management arrangements...often...allow allocation decisions to be made internally by fishermen: conflict and competition is confined to an arena where fishermen feel assured they can be heard. Compelled to resolve their differences internally, fishermen must produce equitable criteria for allocating harvesting rights, which will be acceptable to their peers. The process is thus perceived as just and legitimate, and the decision receives greater support all around than do comparable decisions under conventional government management" (1989:20).

Relationships between stakeholders often in competition over a resource can be improved dramatically by working cooperatively.

#### E. Integration of traditional local knowledge

Under co-management, management plans and decisions are made not only with local/indigenous peoples as active participants, ideally as equal partners, but also on the premise that their perspective is useful, if not necessary. In many cases, the long-term, specific local indigenous knowledge and the management strategies based upon it are partnered successfully with the more generalized, short-term scientific approach in assessing resource situations and planning for the future. Coordinated management efforts thus can enhance and perpetuate the indigenous cultural system. Self-reliance can be enhanced significantly under co-management agreements that often include provisions for indigenous employment, training, access to capital, protection of the subsistence resource base and various economic development opportunities.

#### F. Increased local control

Increased local/indigenous control and participation is achieved by sharing power with indigenous peoples in decisions concerning resource use, access, management and development. While this often begins with limited management functions, it may expand to greater influence in policy formulation. Through co-management, local stakeholders can be involved directly in the practical management of resources and a bottom-up approach that through regular communication with local communities creates a sense of 'ownership', which further facilitates the joint management process (Osherenko 1988:21). Within power-sharing structures, indigenous interests and values can be represented more effectively. Since governments in Canada do not require the explicit definition of rights or any legal transfer of jurisdiction, they have been willing to negotiate co-management agreements with relatively little delay. As pragmatic initiatives for shared resource management, co-management arrangements can provide First Nations with the opportunity to exercise more power and to improve their economic, cultural and social circumstances immediately. Ideally, co-management provokes not only a shift in decision-making power, but also a transformation in the criteria by which First Nations formulate resource management policy. In this sense, state managers are no longer solely informed by state interests; they must now consider the principles, interests, objectives and needs of the local parties to a legal agreement.

## G. Forwarding indigenous aspirations within the state system

The mechanisms mentioned above serve to increase local control and participation. While not the explicit recognition of the indigenous right to self-determination, they are a step forward. As participants in decision-making processes, indigenous peoples may influence the pace and form of development as "economic and environmental goals would be mediated by political and administrative means" (Cassidy and Dale 1988:31). Indigenous peoples are in greater command of their lands and are no longer objects of an administrative process, but active subjects directing it as it applies to some of their key interests. Acting from within the processes once monopolized by government, indigenous peoples have greater leverage and opportunity to assert their claims against the state. For instance, for the Cree of Northern Quebec, "co-management is a

building block...to the realization of Cree goals of increased self-determination and cultural autonomy" (Berkes et al. 1991:23).

Co-management also allows governments to observe that sharing power with indigenous peoples does not result in disaster, does not negatively affect the state's credibility and does not compromise national security. The state's reasons for refusing to share power with indigenous peoples as partners are thus challenged, while the legitimacy of indigenous peoples' claims to determinative authority through self-government is enhanced. As such, co-management may act as a 'confidence-building measure' for promoting significant systemic change in that it facilitates long-term, partnership-oriented relations between indigenous people and the state (Goetze 1998 and 2002).

In sum, engaging in cooperative decision-making in resource management creates a framework for management that is "more appropriate, efficient, and equitable management on several counts" (Pinkerton 1989:23) and can prove advantageous for local users and governments alike, while providing the means to advancing several key indigenous aspirations within the liberal-democratic state system.

#### 3.2 Limitations of Co-Management

Despite the many benefits of co-management, it is also subject to a number of limitations and potential problems, which can be experienced by boards in general, and local users, governments and indigenous participants in particular.

#### A. Lack of decision-making authority for local co-managers

Many well-known examples of co-management do not give local participants equal power. As noted in Part Two, Cree co-managers have been regularly frustrated with the limited decision-making powers of the Coordinating Committee under the JBNQA. The Beverly-Kaminuriak Caribou Management Board, while often heralded as a model for other co-management systems, is limited to "develop and make recommendations to the appropriate governments and to groups of traditional caribou users" (Osherenko 1988:17). In other words, it has a strictly advisory role, with no real participation in the decision-making process (Spak 2002). The government can and does choose to ignore the Board's recommendations if they do not coincide with government interests (Usher 1993). Hoekema (1995) highlights similar problems with the Nunavut Wildlife Management Board, which is limited in that the ultimate responsibility for wildlife management remains with the government and the minister must review and accept all decisions before they are implemented.

The main failing of these, and indeed of most, co-management systems is their attempt to involve local stakeholders in resource management without sharing power. Comanagement boards with only advisory functions are inherently limited because they cannot challenge the government's management authority and consequent control of local resources. Advisory status allows local co-managers only the ability *to influence* the process of resource management decision-making. As such, board recommendations are incorporated at the government's discretion. This means that the role of local stakeholders becomes purely *consultative*, so they are not afforded any involvement in the *actual* decision-making process, which remains the sole jurisdiction of the state.

In addition, unless boards have some form of leverage against state management agencies, there may easily be a problem of insufficient political or bureaucratic will to enforce those board recommendations that government has accepted. In sum, with advisory boards there is a danger that if the bureaucracies oppose plans persistently, they "have it their way easily" and board members will find themselves relegated to expending much of their energy trying to secure bureaucratic consent (Hoekema 1995:185).

### B. Government resistance to sharing power with local co-managers

Gilmour and Fisher (1991) note that shifting from centralized control over management and planning to decentralized cooperative management necessarily involves an accompanying shift in perception and methodology; this shift must occur not only in local communities but also in bureaucracy and government. When this shift does not occur, there may be problems with implementation, enforcement and integration of local or traditional knowledge. Inflexible adherence to either personal or political agendas, knowledge systems or management strategies fosters protectionism rather than compromise, and this would likely lead to the disintegration of the cooperative framework.

Even with boards that have greater authority and the ability to constrain state agencies should they behave in a cavalier manner towards the board, governments often continue to act in an adversarial manner or display a decided lack of commitment to developing the new partnerships that co-management requires. Thus, a major problem facing all co-management boards is that governments are likely to "jealously guard their authority against encroachment by other [decision-makers], and they are not in the habit of sharing power with those they have authority to regulate" (Osherenko 1988:103).

## C. Difficulties with building partnerships

Continual reiteration of past conflicts or historical injustices can alienate board members who are meant to be fostering an atmosphere of mutual support and developing a foundation of common interest that facilitates cross-cultural cooperation. Ivanitz describes as the 'myth' of co-management the assumption that a convergence of interests and compromise can be attained easily:

"Unless clearly defined...the term 'partnership' becomes nothing more than an esoteric concept...The greatest challenge for resource management is,

therefore, reconciling extremely diverse interests and conflicting demands. The resulting management system is often tenuous and fragile, unless entrenched in a legislatively endorsed agreement of one form or another" (1996:137).

However, even if legislatively entrenched, divisions within communities regarding the acceptable scale of development or inter-departmental conflict within government can lead to the breakdown of co-management. Moreover, the fact that government retains the capacity to overturn the board's decisions, even if it never comes to bear, perpetuates state control over resource use and development. This can easily provoke resentment among local co-managers, particularly indigenous participants with political claims to autonomy within traditional territories.

Should co-management seek to bring aboriginal peoples into the process of allocation, use and management, it also may present problems for local non-aboriginal users. Without a substantial surplus in a resource base, an extreme rarity in the current climate of overexploitation and extreme competition, increasing indigenous shares to resources can only be achieved by reducing the current or past extraction levels of other users. Introducing a new group of indigenous users may result in non-indigenous job loss and increased pressure on the resource base, angering both local workers and environmentalists. Admittedly, this is a rarity, as most aboriginal peoples already are engaged in a certain degree of subsistence resource extraction. Problems typically begin when agreements involve introducing aboriginal use of the resource(s) for commercial purposes (Goetze 1998). This, along with the introduction of different aboriginal priorities into a shared management system, may lead to resentment among local non-aboriginal users.

## D. Risk of co-optation

A danger for local stakeholders to consider is the possibility that co-management boards, which operate under the ultimate authority of a government minister, may function in such a manner as to maintain the state's interests despite local involvement in decision-making. It is possible, then, that simply negotiating and participating in comanagement may not address local peoples' concerns and objectives. In this sense, co-management systems may not effectively serve to incorporate elements of local/indigenous interest or concern, much less result in a shift toward locally controlled management of local resources. In fact, the risk is that "on the contrary, they are much more likely to result in the continuation of the state management system in a decentralized but largely unchanged form" (Usher 1986:73).

The *state system itself* also has the potential to compromise the co-management process, so that local co-managers become and remain entangled in a process of attempting to negotiate compromise and resolve conflicts through a structure and according to an agenda designed by the state to meet its management process needs (Spak 2002). In this scenario, by the very act of participation, local co-managers unwittingly "risk being co-opted into pursuing government management objectives rather than the building, strengthening and extending of [local] social solidarity" (Kearney 1989:99). Similar problems exist when scientific knowledge dominates the decision-making process; allowing local-level 'traditional' knowledge to escape consideration in deference to the 'expertise' of 'scientific' knowledge can cause local co-managers to lose their "co-equal status" in co-management "because government managers will always have more scientific expertise available to them" (Berkes 1989:198).

#### E. Increase in governance complexity and costs

Problems for government include the possibility that, in the short-term, co-management arrangements may increase management conflicts between users who may have a history of antagonism between them, and/or divergent worldviews regarding resource management. This results in delays in decision-making as a result of public protests, legal action or foot-dragging at the board level. The added level of decision-making often necessitates the addition of government employees to deal with these local-level management structures. In turn, management costs usually increase, as the bureaucracy must expand to cope with a new level of decision-making and the greater number of parties involved in formulating policy. Bureaucratic expansion carries with it the risk of duplication, conflict with national resource management policies, and administrative and jurisdictional fragmentation. These delays and added complexities can cause resource-related industry to leave the area in favour of other, less complicated locations, in turn affecting the regional, and possibly national, economy.

## F. Difficulties integrating traditional ecological knowledge

Local/indigenous participants may also experience problems with government's failure to implement recommendations when based primarily on the traditional ecological knowledge (TEK). For instance, for many aboriginal co-managers in Canada, the challenge is to negotiate the "often proprietorial, indeed paternalistic, attitudes of resource 'managers' both in and out of government, among them scientists who consider the scientific management of these resources as part of their mandate and responsibility" (Berkes et al. 1991:17). Thus, in many cases, decisions are made according to existing state paradigms of resource management and continue to be dominated by technocratic discourse, which rejects TEK as lacking in the rigor espoused by the scientific method (Baines 1989; Nakashima 1991; Usher 1993). As such, TEK often is not considered a legitimate form of knowledge useful in developing resource management strategies (Spak 2002). This failure to capitalize on the expertise of local/indigenous users then leaves local co-managers seriously disadvantaged in the process, with the result that alienation is perpetuated and local participation becomes little more than tokenism.

## G. Problems of representation

Co-management systems may experience difficulties with representation. At the board level, it is sometimes difficult to recruit local/indigenous representatives with the skills, interests or time to contend with the bureaucracy of sharing decision-making with state managers (Feit 1989; Goetze 1998). When they are available, additional problems may be present. Absenteeism can result in decisions being taken which may not be in accord with certain stakeholders whose representative did not attend the meeting. When co-managers are present, cultural or personal discomfort may inhibit them from speaking and therefore fully participating in the decision-making process. The location of meetings may be an inconvenient and/or costly distance from representatives' homes. State-sanctioned structures for making decisions by Robert's Rules or similar voting procedures are often alien to local/indigenous resource users and co-opt local representatives within what are often culturally foreign structures.

Co-management bodies also may fail to fully integrate the views of local stakeholders in other ways. While certainly useful for the sake of continuity in building new cooperative relationships, extended service as a representative on the board may foster the emergence of an elite circle of local representatives; this further alienates other local community stakeholders from the process of resource management decision-making (Hoekema 1995). If board members are not available to hear the issues and concerns of the people they represent, usually through open meetings or community gatherings, this may lead to resentment in the broader community of interest. Lack of funding for community consultations, or the failure to integrate typically marginalized groups such as women and youth is similarly problematic (Notzke 1994). Finally, in many co-management agreements, various stakeholders will be excluded, either by design or by circumstance. In many cases, industry, developers, environmental groups and recreational users with an interest in the resource(s) being co-managed are not included in board representation, although mechanisms may be provided in the agreement for the communication of their interests and concern to the board. That being so, these stakeholders typically have formed powerful political

lobbies, which provide them with an alternate means to influencing resource management policy and decisions (Rusnak 1997).

### H. Increased pressure on human and natural resources

Above all, it should be remembered that the act of devolving authority to include local and indigenous users in resource management decision-making does not comanagement make; *sharing power and responsibility for managing local resources involves continual negotiation of interests and a willingness to make concessions from all parties.* The implementation of co-management can place a considerable strain on human resources as the increase of responsibilities that comes with taking on management activities is added to local participants' daily regime of employment and family responsibilities. As such, participant 'burn-out' or dwindling interest in the process is an ever-present risk.

Moreover, should the agreement involve the addition of new users, use activities or allocation systems, co-management may create added pressure on the very natural resource(s) over which all are concerned. Therefore, there is no ultimate assurance that establishing a co-management board will result in improved resource management or reduced levels of conflict and competition between users.

## 3.3 Conditions for Successful Co-Management

The conclusions that have been drawn as to the issues which are important to ensuring effective and successful co-management are of particular interest in reviewing the literature from this perspective (see, for example, Usher 1986; M'Gonigle 1988; Osherenko 1988; Feit 1989; Pinkerton 1989; Berkes et al. 1991; Wiener 1991; Usher 1993; Binder & Hanbidge 1994; Wavey 1994; Hoekema 1995; Pinkerton & Weinstein 1995; Goetze 1998; Christie et al. 2000; Berkes et al. 2001). The most important elements include:

- Determinative participation of local users in resource decision-making. This is by far one of the most important elements of building a successful co-management system. Governments must be willing to devolve sufficient decision-making power to local co-managers in order that the decisions of the board are binding to some degree. As noted above, boards that are granted merely consultative or advisory status in the decision-making process often fail because their decisions are too easily ignored or dismissed by the state, leading to the persistence of conflict and/or crisis. It is critical, then, that local stakeholders be included as equal partners in managing the resource in a form of delegated authority or powersharing arrangement that amounts to a substantive degree of local community control over of the resource base (see the discussion on power-sharing in Part One for further details on how this has been accomplished). Furthermore, given the risk of state co-optation via co-management, a reality that would only serve to further weaken local authority and management systems, it is critically important that comanagement agreements assure that local co-managers will enjoy "participation with equal authority, legal standing, resources, and respect" (Feit 1988:48).
- Provisions that provide *leverage for local/indigenous co-managers* vis-à-vis the state's authority. Any government disregard or reversal of board decisions should be subject to public scrutiny. It is best if board decisions are legally binding so that acceptance and implementation of decisions are not left to the goodwill of bureaucrats or government ministers because this constitutes a "very weak base for the constitution of a new partnership" (Hoekema 1995:190). However, given state reluctance to devolve such authority, there should be at the very least a measure of leverage in the form of public review of instances of government failure to implement or enforce board decisions.
- The development of *management structures and processes that promote compromise* in shared management. In this sense, there must be a forum and process for decision-making that facilitates the negotiation for a middle ground

regarding potentially contentious issues among a large number of stakeholders whose relationships may have been characterized by competition. In terms of reaching decisions cooperatively, consensus-based decision-making seems to promote compromise most effectively.

- Stakeholder participants must moderate personal, political, economic and social agendas sufficiently to allow collective decisions that consider the interests of the broader communities to be reached. This is key to the success of building partnership-based relationships that are the basis of the cooperative process.
- A forum for internal problem-solving and dispute resolution between co-managers in which contentious issues may be addressed before they erupt into public hostilities, or cause the cooperative process to break down. Dispute resolution processes are particularly important in addressing conflicts between state and local/indigenous participants that could potentially lead to the dissolution of the agreement. Additionally, an appeal mechanism should be in place for cases in which decisions of the co-management board meet with public dissatisfaction or protest.
- The integration of local/indigenous ecological knowledge and management systems into the management process. This is meant both to preserve traditional lifestyles and to assert indigenous values, interests and perceptions regarding the resource, but also to improve the management of the resource and promote the convergence of state and local interests and strategies.
- The presence of detailed procedural and structural guidelines in which the resources are specified, accountability mechanisms are outlined, and roles and responsibilities of participants are clearly defined. These provisions also should set out clear mechanisms for enforcement, monitoring and evaluation. It is important that the language and intentions of agreements be unambiguous because

"inconsistency and lack of clarity can contribute to cultural tension, reluctant and withheld communication, lack of trust, and even economic costs" (Manzie 1994:67).

- A means of *transparency and communication* between users, representatives and state managers about the decision-making and management process. Local communities should be involved in the process as much as possible via subcommittees, open board meetings and/or regular community gatherings in which feedback may be heard.
- The model upon which the system of co-management operates must be shared or negotiated to ensure that all participants' worldviews are reflected in a "shared paradigm" of resource management (Usher 1993:117). This includes the style of decision-making, language and terminology used and the basic structure of the management board.
- A sense of security for local/indigenous participants both in terms of guaranteed funding and clear, legal guarantees regarding tenure over land and resources. Levels and duration of funding should be noted as part of the legal provisions of the agreement. Similarly, the geographic scope of management authority should be clearly defined.
- Co-management provisions, structures and processes must reflect a *consideration for local variability*, including community politics, the nature of the resource(s) being managed, local economic realities and cultural differences. In other words, there is no single model that may be applied to the various contexts within which comanagement is to be established.
- Agreements involving indigenous participants must include procedural requirements that promote the *serious consideration of the indigenous perspective*. This is particularly crucial in instances where state managers and indigenous participants come into conflict over issues that involve aboriginal rights. Veto power

for indigenous participants serves this purpose well. Beyond this, steps should be taken to avoid such confrontational situations by promoting consensus-based decision-making as an alternative if not preferred means of making decisions.

In addition, co-management agreements are more likely to operate successfully when they are *formal and multi-year*, and when serious efforts are made to ensure the *continuity of participant representation and support staff*, which allows boards to operate more effectively and more efficiently. Resources should be managed comprehensively where necessary and possible, to avoid strategy conflict or redundancy. Regimes also should provide arenas for discussion in order that nonsignatories and community members have a means of contributing to board discussions and management issues.

While this list is not an exhaustive account of provisions that contribute to successful co-management, it represents a comprehensive summary of those most commonly raised in the literature, and those noted during my own research on co-management in Clayoquot Sound. As discussed in Part Two, which assesses the Clayoquot co-management experience, some of these elements can be observed in the operations of the Central Region Board. This undoubtedly accounts for its continuing success in cooperatively managing Clayoquot resources at the local level after over 8 years in operation.

# **Conclusion: Learning from Others**

Many regions in the world are experiencing rapidly depleting resource bases and the resulting conflict between stakeholders over their use and management. This has become a major concern politically, economically and socially in a variety of national contexts in both developed and developing areas. As was the case in Canada three decades ago, in developing areas a trend has emerged towards developing community-based resource management to ensure the continuing health of diminishing resources, such as fragile marine ecosystems or threatened species of wildlife. This promising development, however, also involves negotiating the challenges involved in building comanagement models that promote participatory and cooperative relationships and minimize conflict, while at the same time promoting economic development. There is a pressing need to build cooperative management institutions with local stakeholders in order to sustainably manage resources, reduce conflict, coordinate management and conservation strategies, and capitalize on the rich knowledge and long-term experience of local users.

As with aboriginal communities in Canada, in developing areas, local communities rely heavily on their natural resources for both subsistence and commercial purposes. Furthermore, both local and state stakeholders regard resources as crucial to their current and future economic well-being. In both situations, increasing pressure on ecosystems is endangering the future viability of the very resources that are valued for their potential in economic development. Finally, the situation for building comanagement in these regions is similarly complicated by lack of government support for increasing local community control over the management of natural resources. This is often accompanied by a concern that the process of devolution is not easily accomplished because local stakeholders do not have the capacity to take on management roles. The risk of government co-optation, therefore, is present also in developing contexts.

While worthy of close consideration, these challenges are not insurmountable. As the Canadian experience illustrates, co-management is a process of constant negotiation, particularly where local stakeholders seek augmented levels of power. Yet it is greater local authority that ultimately creates more effective co-management. The purpose of this report and its most effective application is, first, to inform communities in developing areas of the basic ideas about and functions of co-management. Second, it serves to highlight co-management's potential utility and pitfalls based on detailed case studies of long-standing joint management regimes. Finally, by documenting the conditions that contribute to successful co-management, it emphasizes the provisions and arrangements that best serve the interests of local partners, particularly in terms of empowering them vis-à-vis the management authority of the state. Ultimately, this report aims to provide local communities with the knowledge to *guide their strategies* in negotiating co-management systems with governments in order to effectively meet the resource-based needs of local stakeholders over the long-term.

# Bibliography

Arrarte, C. and G. Scarlato. 1999. "The Laguna Merin Basin of Uruguay: From Protecting the Natural Heritage to Managing Sustainable Development." In D. Buckles, ed. *Cultivating Peace: Conflict and Collaboration in Natural Resource Management.* Ottawa: IDRC. Pp. 237-50.

Baines, G. 1989. "Conclusion: Issues in the Application of Traditional Knowledge to Environmental Science." In R.E. Johannes, ed. *Traditional Ecological Knowledge: A Collection of Essays.* Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. Pp. 67-69.

Benidickson, J. 1996. "Temagami Old Growth: Pine, Politics, and Public Policy." *Environments* 23(2): 41-50.

Berkes, F. 1989. "Co-Management and the James Bay Agreement". In E. Pinkerton, ed. *Co-operative Management of Local Fisheries.* Vancouver: UBC Press. Pp. 181-208

\_\_\_\_\_. 1994. "Co-Management: Bridging the Two Solitudes". *Northern Perspectives* 22(2-3):18-20.

Berkes, F., P. George and R. Preston. 1991. *Co-Management: The Evolution of the Theory and Practice of Joint Administration of Living Resources.* TASO Research Report, Second Series, No. 1. Hamilton: McMaster University.

Berkes, F., R. Mahon, P. McConney, R. Pollnac and R. Pomeroy. 2001. *Managing Small-Scale Fisheries: Alternative Directions and Methods*. Ottawa: IDRC.

Binder, L.N. and B. Hanbidge. 1994. "Aboriginal People and Resource Co-Management". In J.T. Inglis, ed. *Traditional Ecological Knowledge: Concepts and Cases*. Ottawa: International Program on Traditional Ecological Knowledge, Canadian Museum of Nature, International Development Research Centre. Pp.121-32.

Borrini-Fayerabend, G., M. Taghi Farvar, J. Nguinguiri and V. Awa Ndangang. 2000. *Co-Management of Natural Resources: Organising, Negotiating and Learning-By-Doing.* Heidelberg: Kasparek Verlag, GTZ and IUCN.

Brosius, J. P., A. Lowenhaupt Tsing and C. Zerner. 1998. "Representing Communities: Histories and Politics of Community-Based Natural Resource Management." *Society and Natural Resources* 11: 157-168.

Buckles, D. and G. Rusnak. 1999. "Conflict and Collaboration in Natural Resource Management." In D. Buckles, ed. *Cultivating Peace: Conflict and Collaboration in Natural Resource Management.* Ottawa: IDRC. Pp. 1-12.

Cassidy, F. and N. Dale. 1988 After Native Land Claims? The Implications of Comprehensive Claims Settlements for Natural Resources in British Columbia. Lantzville, BC: Oolichan Books.

Christie, P. et al. 2000. *Taking Care of What We Have: Participatory Natural Resource Management on the Caribbean Coast of Nicaragua.* Ottawa: IDRC.

Dale, N. 1989. "Getting to Co-Management: Social Learning in the Redesign of Fisheries Management". In E. Pinkerton, ed. *Co-operative Management of Local Fisheries*. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press. Pp. 49-72.

Doubleday, N.C. 1989. "Co-Management Provisions of the Inuvialuit Final Agreement". In E. Pinkerton, ed. *Co-operative Management of Local Fisheries*. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press. Pp. 209-27.

Drushka, K. 1993. "Forest Ownership and the Case for Diversification". In K. Drushka, et al., eds. *Touch Wood: B.C. Forests at the Crossroads.* Madeira Park: Harbour Publishing. Pp. 1-22.

Feit, H. 1988. "Self-Management and State-Management: Forms of Knowing and Managing Northern Wildlife." In M. Freeman and L. Carbyn, eds. *Traditional Knowledge and Renewable Resource Management*. Edmonton: Boreal Institute for Northern Studies. Pp.72-91.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1989. "James Bay Cree Self-Governance and Land Management". In E. Wilmsen, ed. *We Are Here: Politics of Aboriginal Land Tenure.* Berkley: University of California Press. Pp. 68-99.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1998. "Self-Management and Government Management of Wildlife: Prospects for Coordination in James Bay and Canada." In R.J. Hoage and K. Moran, eds. *Culture: The Missing Element in Conservation and Development.* Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt Publishing and the National Zoological Park, Smithsonian Institution. Pp. 95-111.

Feit, H.A. 2001. "Hunting, Nature and Metaphor: Political and Discursive Strategies in James Bay Cree Resistance and Autonomy." In J.A. Grim, ed. *Indigenous Traditions and Ecology*. Cambridge: Center for the Study of World Religions, Harvard Divinity School and Harvard University Press. Pp. 411-452.

Feit, H. and R. Beaulieu. 2001. "Voices from a Disappearing Forest: Government, Corporate and Cree Participatory Forestry Management Practices." In C. Scott, ed. *Aboriginal Autonomy and Development in Northern Quebec and Labrador*. Vancouver: UBC Press. Pp. 119-48.

Finlayson, A. 1994. Fishing for Truth: A Sociological Analysis of Northern Cod Stock Assessments from 1977-1990. St. John's: ISER, Memorial University.
Gilmour, D.A. and R.J. Fisher. 1991, Villagers, Forests and Foresters- The Philosophy, Process and Practice of Community Forestry in Nepal. Kathmandu: Sahayogi Press.

Goetze, T. 1998. Reaching for New Perspectives on Co-Management with First Nations: Exploring the Possibilities for Conflict Management, Indigenous Rights, and Systemic Change Under the Interim Measures Agreement in Clayoquot Sound, BC. MA Thesis, Department of Anthropology, McMaster University. Hamilton, ON.

\_\_\_\_\_. 2002. "Co-Management and Power-Sharing: Building Confidence in Partnership with First Nations." In D. Belanger, et al., eds. *Canada: Rupture and Continuity.* Montreal: McGill Institute for the Study of Canada. Pp. 257-74.

Hawkes, S. 1996. "The Gwaii Haanas Agreement: From Conflict to Cooperation." *Environments* 23(2):87-100.

Hoekema, A. 1995. "Do Joint Decision-Making Boards Enhance Chances for a New Partnership Between the State and Indigenous Peoples?" *Indigenous Affairs* (1):4-10.

Ivanitz, M.J. 1996. *Co-Management of Resources between Whitefish Lake First Nation and the Province of Alberta: Social Forestry and Local-Global Articulations*. PhD. Thesis, Department of Anthropology, University of Alberta.

Jacobsohn, M. 1993. "Now They Come With Respect." Cultural Survival Quarterly 17 (2):54-56.

Kanton, B., R. Pomeroy and A. Salamanca. 1997. *The Marine Conservation Project for San Salvador: A Case Study of Fisheries Co-Management in the Philippines.* Manila: ICLARM and Haribon Foundation, Inc.

Kariya, P. 1989. *Native Socio-Economic Development in Canada: Adaptation, Accessibility and Opportunity*. Winnipeg: Institute of Urban Studies.

Kearney, J.F. 1989. "Co-Management or Co-optation? The Ambiguities of Lobster Fishery Management in Southwest Nova Scotia". In E. Pinkerton, ed. *Co-operative Management of Local Fisheries.* Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press. Pp. 85-102.

Manzie, N. 1994. *The Path between World Views: The Synthesis of TEK, WSK and Comanagement.* Bachelor of Science Thesis, Department of Integrated Sciences. Ottawa: Carleton University.

McCay, B. and J. Acheson. 1987. "Human Ecology of the Commons". In B. McCay and J. Acheson, eds. *The Question of the Commons: The Culture and Ecology of Communal Resources*. Tuscon: University of Arizona. Pp. 1-34.

M'Gonigle, M. 1988. "The Stein River: Wilderness, Culture and Human Survival." *Alternatives* 15(3): 12-21.

M'Gonigle, M. and B. Parfitt. 1994. *Forestopia: A Practical Guide to the New Forest Economy.* Madeira Park:Harbour Publishing. Mulrennan, M. 1994. "The Evolution and Control of Resource Management in the Torres Strait, Australia." In Le Groupe Consensus, Inc., Makivik Corporation, and L'Union Quebecoise pour la Conservation de la Nature, eds. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Indigenous Peoples and Water Resource Development Projects*, Montreal, April 13-15. Pp. 88-101.

Nakashima, D.J. 1991. *The Ecological Knowledge of Belcher Island Inuit: A Traditional Basis for Wildlife Co-management*. Phd. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal.

Notzke, C. 1994. *Aboriginal Peoples and Natural Resources in Canada*. North York, ON: Captus Press.

Osherenko, G. 1988. *Sharing Power with Native Users: Co-Management Regimes for Native Wildlife*. Ottawa: Canadian Arctic Resources Committee.

Pinkerton, E. 1989. "Introduction: Attaining Better Fisheries Management through Co-Management - Prospects, Problems, and Propositions." In E. Pinkerton, ed. *Co-operative Management of Local Fisheries.* Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press. Pp. 3-33.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1993. "Co-Management Efforts as Social Movements". *Alternatives*. 19(3):33-38.

Pinkerton, E. and M. Weinstein. 1995. *Fisheries That Work: Sustainability through Community-Based Management*. Vancouver: The Suzuki Foundation.

RCAP (Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples). 1996. *Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples*. Ottawa: Government of Canada.

Richard, P. and D. Pike. 1993. "Small Whale Co-Management in the Eastern Canadian Arctic: A Case History and Analysis." *Arctic* 1993(2):330-341.

Roberts, K., ed. 1996. *Circumpolar Aboriginal People and Co-Management Practice: Current Issues in Co-Management and Environmental Assessment.* Arctic Institute of North America and Joint Secretariat and Inuvialuit Renewable Resource Committees, Calgary.

Rusnak, G. 1997. *Co-Management of Natural Resources in Canada: A Review of Concepts and Case Studies*. MINGA Working Paper #2. Ottawa: International Development Research Centre.

Scott, C. 1979. *Modes of Production and Guaranteed Annual Income in James Bay Cree Society.* Montreal: McGill University Programme in the Anthropology of Development.

Scott, C. and J. Webber. 2001 "Conflicts between Cree Hunting and Sport Hunting: Co-Management Decision-Making at James Bay". In C. Scott, ed. *Aboriginal Autonomy and Development in Northern Quebec and Labrador*. Vancouver: UBC Press.

Sinclair, M. 1994. "Summary of the Interim Measures Agreement on Clayoquot Sound." Paper prepared for the Nuu-chah-nulth Tribal Council. Port Alberni: NTC.

Spak, S. 2002. "Indigenous Knowledge, Power and Natural Resource Co-Management in Canada." Paper prepared for the Annual Meeting of the Canadian Anthropology Society, Windsor, Ontario. May 2-6, 2002.

Swerdfager, T. M. 1992. *Cooperative Wildlife Management: A Discussion Paper*. Ottawa: Canadian Wildlife Services.

Talaue-McManus, L., A. Yambao, S. Salmo and P. Alino. 1999. "Bolinao, Northern Philippines: Participatory Planning for Coastal Development." In D. Buckles, ed. *Cultivating Peace: Conflict and Collaboration in Natural Resource Management.* Ottawa: IDRC. Pp. 151-62.

Usher, P. 1986 "Devolution of Power in the Northwest Territories: Implications for Wildlife." In *Native People and Renewable Resource Management.* Edmonton: Alberta Society of Professional Biologists. Pp. 69-80.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1993. "The Beverly-Kaminuriak Caribou Management Board: An Experience in Co-Management." In J.T. Inglis, ed. *Traditional Ecological Knowledge: Concepts and Cases*. Ottawa: International Program on Traditional Ecological Knowledge, Canadian Museum of Nature, International Development Research Centre. Pp.111-20. Wavey, R. 1994. "International Workshop on Indigenous Knowledge and Community-Based Resource Management: Keynote Address". In J.T. Inglis, ed. *Traditional Ecological Knowledge: Concepts and Cases*. Ottawa: International Program on Traditional Ecological Knowledge, Canadian Museum of Nature, International Development Research Centre. Pp.11-16.

Weiner, J. 1991. *The Optimal Co-Management Regime*. Manuscript. Department of Geography, University of Wyoming.

Winn, S. 1991. Co-Management Under the Inuvialuit Final Agreement: Bridging the Gap Between Indigenous Self-Regulation and State-Based Resource Management in the Western Arctic? MA Thesis, Carleton University, Ottawa, ON.

The Rural Poverty and Environment Working Paper Series
<ol> <li>Rusnak, G. 1997. Co-Management of Natural Resources in Canada: A Review of Concepts and Case Studies.</li> </ol>
<ol> <li>McAllister, K. 1999. Understanding Participation: Monitoring and evaluating process, outputs and outcomes.</li> </ol>
3. McAllister, K. and Vernooy, R. 1999. Action and reflection: A guide for monitoring and evaluating participatory research.
4. Harrison, K. 2000. Community Biodiversity Registers as a Mechanism the Protection of Indigenous and Local Knowledge.
5. Poats, S. 2000. Gender and natural resource management with reference to IDRC's Minga program.
<ol> <li>Lindayati, R. 2000. Community Forestry Policies in Selected Southeast Asian Countries.</li> </ol>
7. Meltzer, J. 2001. Assessment of the Political, Economic, and Institutional Contexts for Participatory Rural Development in Post-Mitch Honduras.
8. Brooks, D.B., Wolfe, S. and Shames, T. 2001. Local Water Supply and Management: A Compendium of 30 Years of IDRC-Funded Research.
9. Lee, M.D.P. 2002. Community-Based Natural Resource Management: A Bird's Eye View.
<ol> <li>Sick, D. 2002. Managing Environmental Processes Across Boundaries: A Review of the Literature on Institutions and Resource Management.</li> </ol>
11. Mujica, M. 2002. Assessing the Contribution of Small Grants Programs to Natural Resource Management.
12. Frias, G. 2003. Invasión Forestal: Khla Nagnegei Taíñ weichangepan.
13. Ghose, J.R. 2003. The Right To Save Seed.
14. Wiens, P. 2003. The Gendered Nature of Local Institutional Arrangements for Natural Resource Management: A Critical Knowledge Gap for Promoting Equitable and Sustainable NRM in Latin America.
15. Goetze, T.C. 2004. Sharing the Canadian Experience with Co-Management: Ideas, Examples and Lessons for Communities in Developing Areas.
16. Currie-Alder, B. 2004. Sharing Environmental Responsibility in Southeast Mexico: Participatory Processes for Natural Resource Management.
17. Suzuki, R. 2005. The Intersection of Decentralization and Conflict in Natural Resource Management: Cases from Southeast Asia.
18. Bruneau, R. 2004. Watershed Management Research: A Review of IDRC Projects in Asia and Latin America.
List Updated May, 2005

#### **Postal Address:**

PO Box 8500 Ottawa, ON, Canada K1G 3H9

#### **Street Address:**

250 Albert Street Ottawa, ON, Canada K1P 6M1

**Tel:** (+1-613) 236-6163

**Fax:** (+1-613) 238-7230

E-mail: wmanchur@idrc.ca

Website: www.idrc.ca



